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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
MIDDLE DISTRICT OF FLORIDA

Case No. 5:05-cv-362-OC-WTH-GRJ
NEIL J. GILLESPIE
Plaintiff,
VS.
HSBC NORTH AMERICA HOLDINGS
INC., HSBC BANK NEVADA, N.A., and
RISK MANAGEMENT ALTERNATIVES,
INC.,

Defendants.

DEFENDANTS' MOTION TO DISMISS HSBC NORTH AMERICA HOLDINGS INC. AS
A PARTY DEFENDANT, TO DISMISS COUNTS |, 1I AND IV OF THE COMPLAINT,
AND TO STRIKE REQUESTS FOR ATTORNEY'S FEES AND PUNITIVE DAMAGES
AND MEMORANDUM OF LAW IN SUPPORT THEREOF

Defendants HSBC North America Holdings Inc. and HSBC Bank Nevada, N.A,,
by and through their undersigned counsel and pursuant o Fed. R. Civ. P. 9 and 12 and
M.D. Fla. L.R. 7.1, hereby move: a) to dismiss HSBC North America Holdings Inc. as a
party defendant, as it was improperly named, b) to dismiss Counts I, Il and IV of
Plaintiff's Complaint and c) to strike Plaintiff's requests. for attorney's fees and punitive
damages, all for failure to state a claim upon which relief can be granted. In support
thereof Defendants state:

BACKGROUND & FACTS

1. On or about February 27, 2003, Plaintiff opened a MasterCard credit card
account issued by HSBC Nevada, N.A., f/k/a Household Bank (SB), N.A. ("HSBC

Bank"). Cmplt., 7 8.,9.
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2. Plaintiff's credit line increased to $800.00, following his request over the
telephone in September 2004, during which Plaintiff agreed to pay a $50.00 Automated
Credit Line Increase ("ACLI") fee.

3. The $50.00 ACLI fee was assessed to Plaintiff's account on September 9,
2004, and, pursuant to his payment of $50.00, is reflected as a credit on his monthly
statement. Cmplt., Ex. 2.

4. Plaintiff nevertheless complains that he did not get a credit for the $50.00
ACLI fee he paid. Cmplt., [ 30.

5. For the reasons stated below, Plaintiff's complaint should be dismissed.

MEMORANDUM OF LAW

As a threshold matter, Plaintiff's complaint begins by requesting that the Clerk of
the Court mail a stamped copy of the complaint to "U.S. Senator Richard Shelby,
Chairman, United States Senate Committee on Banking, Housing and Urban Affairs,"
and "John C. Dugan, Comptroller of the Currency, OCC." This allegation, if it even is
one, is impertinent and scandalous, and pursuant to Fed. R. Civ. P. 12 (f), should be
stricken.

1. HSBC North America Holdings Inc. is Not a Proper Party Defendant

Plaintiffs action against the issuer of his credit card, HSBC Bank, contains
allegations, however faulty, against HSBC Bank. But as to HSBC North America
Holdings Inc., the only mention made is that it is the parent company of defendant
HSBC Bank. Cmplt. 4. HSBC Bank is an entity separate and distinct from HSBC
North America Holdings Inc., and there are simply no allegations to support any claim
against HSBC North America Holdings Inc. As such, HSBC North Amerca Holdings Inc.

must be dismissed as a party defendant in this matter.
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2, Failure to Establish a Fraud Claim

Plaintiff's fraud claim should be dismissed with prejudice under Fed. R. Civ. P.
12(b) because, even taking all of the allegations as true, Plaintiff fails to state a claim
upon which relief can be granted. Alternatively, Plaintiff's fraud claim should be
dismissed because he has failed to plead with the level of particularity required by Fed.
R. Civ. P. 9(a).

To adequately advance a claim for fraud under Florida law, a plaintiff must allege
ultimate facts showing: (1) that there was a false statement concerning a specific
material fact; (2) that the representor knew, or shouid have known, that the
representation was false; (3) an intention that the representation induce another to act
on it; and (4) a consequent injury to the party acting in justifiable reliance on the

representation. See Haskin v. R.J. Reynolds Tobacco Company, 995 F. Supp. 1437,

1439 (M.D. Fla., 1998), citing Kingston Square Tenants Ass'n V. Tuskegee Gardens

Ltd., 792 F. Supp. 1566, 1576 (S.D. Fla. 1992), (citing Joiner v. McCullers, 28 So. 2d

823, 824 (1947)); accord Dancey Co. v. Borg-Warner Corp., 799 F. 2d 717, 719 (11"

Cir. 1986). See also Simon v. Celebration Co., 883 So. 2d 826 (Fla. 5" DCA 2004) (a

plaintiff must plead ultimate facts to advance a fraud claim).

Here, Plaintiff's allegations establish neither a false statement, nor consequent
injury. Plaintiff claims that HSBC Bank advised him that upon payment of the $50 ACLI
fee he would receive a credit line increase. Plaintiff paid the $50, and received a credit
line increase. Exhibit 2, attached to the Complaint, makes it clear that Plaintiff's account
was credited for the $50 ACLI fee, and there is no allegation that he did not receive a

credit line increase.
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Moreover, for the same reasons outlined above, and in view of Plaintiff's entire
complaint, Plaintiff has failed to establish an injury atiributable to HSBC Bank's allegedly
fraudulent conduct. Although Plaintiff advances the unsupported conclusion that HSBC
Bank committed a "sleight of hand theft' through the credit line increase transaction,
Plaintiff's payment actually inured to his benefit vis-a-vis HSBC Bank's subsequent
authorization of an increased credit line made available to Plaintiff. Simply put, Plaintiff
received the benefit of the bargain.

Based on the foregoing, even treating all of Plaintiff's allegations as true, the
fraud claim against HSBC should be dismissed for Plaintiff's failure to state a claim upon
which relief can be granted. |

3. Failure to Plead Fraud With Particularity

in addition, Plaintiff's fraud claim should be dismissed for his failure to comply
with the requirements of Rule 9(b) of the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure. In part, the
Rule provides that "in all averments of fraud or mistake, the circumstances constituting
fraud or mistake shall be stated with particularity." Fed. R. Civ. P. 9(b). This Court has
instructed that "the rule may be satisfied by setting forth: (1) precisely what statements
were made in what documents or oral representations or what omissions were made;
(2) the time and place of each such statement and the person responsible for making
(or, in the case of omissions, not making) same; (3) the content of such statements and
the manner in which they misled the plaintiff; and (4) what the defendants obtained as a

consequence of the fraud." Haskin v. R.J. Revynolds Tobacco Company, 995 F. Supp.

1437, 1439 (M.D. Fla. 1998).
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Here, Plaintiff has failed to establish the manner in which HSBC Bank's
statements misled him. Conversely, he has established that HSBC Bank's assurances
of a credit line increase upon payment of the $50 ACLI fee were in fact genuine and
true.

Plaintiff has also failed to set forth any benefit obtained by HSBC Bank as a
consequence of the alleged fraud. At the very least, the $50 "bought" Plaintiff a two-
hundred dollar credit line increase, and HSBC Bank, in not being repaid, suffered a one-
hundred and fifty dollar loss in the form of an unpaid account as a consequence of its
own allegedly fraudulent conduct.

Based on the foregoing, Plaintiff's fraud claim should be dismissed for failure to
plead with the level of particularity required by Fed. R. Civ. P. 9(b).

4. Failure to Establish a TILA claim

Under count two of the complaint, Plaintiff purports to assert a wide assortment
of claims arising under various provisions of the Truth In Lending Act ("TILA"), which
rely in large part on an incomplete September 2004 billing statement attached to the
Complaint as Exhibit 2. Because the billing statement is inconsistent with his
allegations and actually undermines Plaintiff's TILA claim, the Court should dismiss
Plaintiff's count two. In the alternative, the Court should require Plaintiff to attach to his
Complaint the entire billing statement, allowing HSBC Bank time to prepare and submit
a responsive pleading to count two of the Complaint after it has reviewed the billing
statement in its entirety.

Moreover, the one page that is attached conflicts with Plaintiff's allegations. This

Court has instructed that it:
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will not accept as true allegations that are contradicted by
facts that can be judicially noticed or by other allegations or
exhibits attached to or incorporated in the pleading. On the
other hand, the allegations of the pleading will be
supplemented by any relevant matter that can be judicially
noticed or by the contents of any exhibits attached to the
pleading or any matter validly incorporated by reference.

Anderson v. U.S.. 245 F. Supp. 2d 1217, 1221 (M.D. Fla. 2002) citing 5A Charles Alan

Wright & Arthur R. Miller, Federal Practice and Procedure § 1363 (2d ed. 1990).

Here, Plaintiff's TILA allegations are squarely contradicted by Exhibit 2 of the
Complaint. For instance, Plaintiff claims that HSBC Bank violated 15 U.S.C. §1666¢ by
not crediting his account after receipt of his $50 money order for the ACLI fee. Cmplt., |
60. That allegation is completely inconsistent with and undermined by an entry in the
billing statement which indicates a credit for the credit line increase fee. Cmplt., Ex. 2.

Plaintiff's claim that HSBC Bank violated 15 U.S.C. § 1637(b)(3), (4), (7) and (8)
by providing false account balance information on his September 2004 statement is also
contradicted by Exhibit 2 of the Complaint. Plaintiff alleges that the statement did not
accurately reflect: (i) the account balance at the end of the period; (ii) the total amount
credited during the period; (jii) the finance chargé or balance upon which the finance
charge was based; or (iv) the crediting of "other charges." Cmplt., 161. However, in
stark contrast to these allegations, even a cursory review of the September 2004 billing
statement reveals its full and accurate disclosure of each of the foregoing items.

Another example of the discrepancy between Exhibit 2 and the allegations in the
Complaint is found in Plaintiff's claim that HSBC Bank violated 15 U.S.C. § 1637(a), (c),
and (d) by failing to properly disclose a $29.00 overlimit or late fee on a closed or
cancelled account. Cmplt., Y] 64, 65 and 66. Strikingly, the very last item on the

transaction summary of Exhibit 2 explicitly states a $29.00 overlimit charge.
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In view of the foregoing, because the September 2004 billing statement actually
undermines and contradicts Plaintiffs TILA allegations, the Court should dismiss
Plaintiff's TILA claims in count two. In the alternative, the Court should require that
Plaintiff file the entire billing statement.

HSBC Bank cannot reasonably be required to frame a responsive pleading
“where the exhibit supporting Plaintiff's TILA claims is incomplete. Rule 106 of the
Federal Rules of Evidence provides that when a writing or any part thereof is introduced
by a party, an adverse party may require the introduction "at that time" of any other part
of the writing which, in fairness, ought to be considered contemporaneously with the
partial writing.

Here, Plaintiff has provided one side of the first page of a two-page, double-sided
document.! To the extent that the Court is disinclined to dismiss the TILA claims, HSBC
Bank respectfully requests that the Court require Plaintiff to timely file the full and
complete billing statement upon which his TILA claims rely in order to enable HSBC
Bank to frame a reasonably informed responsive pleading to count two of the
Complaint.

5. Failure to Establish a Usury Claim

Plaintiff claims that HSBC Bank violated Florida usury law under §687(2),(3) and
(4) Fla. Stat., by charging him "nominal interest rates of 18.9% [...] and 22.9% APR, and
periodic interest rates as high as 224.00% APR." Cmplt.,  91. This conclusory

allegation is made without any factual support for how the alleged interest rates are

T The "Payment Summary" portion of the statement instructs the reader to "[s]ee reverse side for an
explanation of these amounts."
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arrived at. Moreover, the Cardholder Agreement between the parties, attached hereto -
as Exhibit A, is a contract governed by Nevada law, which permits parties to agree to
any rate of interest on money due under any written contract. See §99.050 NV. Stat.;

Mapes v. Palo Alto Town and Country Village, Inc., 584 F. Supp. 508 (D. Nev. 1984).

The Eleventh Circuit has instructed that a defendant may attach a document
pertinent to a motion to dismiss if the plaintiff did not attach it to the complaint, and such

document is appropriately considered part of the pleadings if it is referred to in the

complaint and is central to a claim asserted therein. See Hoffman-Pugh v. Ramsey,

312 F. 3d 1222, 1225 (11" Cir. 2002). Accord Barnum v. Millbrook Care Ltd.

Partnership, 850 F. Supp. 1227, 1232 (S.D. N.Y. 1994)("[...] the court may consider [...]
an instrument in ruling on a 12(b)(6) motion even if it is not attached to the complaint

[...]1."), affirmed by Barnum v. Millbrook Care Ltd. Partnership, 43 F. 3d 1458 (2™ Cir.

1994).

Here, Plaintiff refers to the Cardholder Agreement at paragraphs twelve, forty-six,
seventy-two, and eighty-eight of the Complaint, notwithstanding denying receipt of the
same. The agreement is integral to Plaintiff's usury claim, and, indeed, provides the
controlling law regarding that claim.? Defendant is therefore entitled to place the
agreement before the Court without converting the instant motion into one for summary
judgment.

Accordingly, although HSBC Bank disputes the interest rates asserted by

Plaintiff, even if they were accurate, the Cardholder Agreement undermines Plaintiff's

2 Here, the law of Nevada.
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reliance on Florida law and frustrates his ability to set forth a cognizable claim for usury.
For these reasons, the Court should dismiss count four of the Complaint.

6. The Request for Punitive Damages Should be Stricken

Plaintiff requests punitive damages under the fraud claim in the complaint. If the
Court decides not to dismiss the fraud claim in its entirety at this juncture, or if the Court
dismisses the claim without prejudice, the request for punitive damages should
nevertheless be stricken.

Defendants recognize that the pleading rule set out at Fed. R. Civ. P. 8(a)(3)
preempts §768.72 of the Florida Statutes (which requires Plaintiff to obtain leave of
court before including a prayer for punitive damages), but federal courts applying
Florida law have nevertheless refused to uphold a prayer for punitive damages where
such damages are based only on conclusory allegations in the complaint which lack a

reasonable basis in fact. See Porter v. Ogden et al., 241 F. 3d 1334, 1340 (1 1" Cir.

2001). Because Plaintiff's request for punitive damages is, indeed, based on conclusory
allegations in the absence of a reasonable basis in fact to support a claim for fraud, the
prayer for punitive damages should be stricken.

7. Plaintiff's Request for Attorney's Fees Should be Stricken

Plaintiff's demands for attorney's fees under counts one, two and four of the
complaint should be stricken because Plaintiff represents himself in this matter. See

Kurz v. Chase Manhattan Bank, 260 F. Supp. 2d 638 (S.D. N.Y. 2003); White v Arlen

Realty & Dev. Corp., 614 F. 2d 387 (4" Cir. 1980) cert denied, 447 US 923 (1980)

(Even attorneys who are proceeding pro se in an action against an issuing bank for

alleged violations of the Truth in Lending Act are not eligible to recover attorney fees,
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notwithstanding the fact that they prevailed in the action.) See also Dorn v.

Commissioner of .R.S., 2005 WL 1126653 (M.D. Fla. 2005). Moreover, with respect to

the fraud and usury claims, Florida law only allows attorney's fees if there is a

contractual or statutory basis for such fees. See Washington Mutual Bank, F.A. v.

Shelton, 892 So. 2d 547, 549 (Fla. 2" DCA 2005)("[...] attorney's fees will be awarded
[...] so long as there is either a contractual or statutory basis for doing so and the
request for fees has been properly pleaded.") As there is no contractual or statutory
basis for an award of attorney's fees in this matter, Plaintiff's claims for those fees
should be stricken.

CONCLUSION

For the foregoing reasons, Defendant HSBC Bank Nevada, N.A., respectfully
requests that this Court: (1) dismiss HSBC North America Holdings Inc. as a party
defendant; (2) dismiss Counts I, II, and IV of the Complaint; (3) strike Plaintiff's requests
for punitive damages; (4) strike Plaintiff's request for attorney's fees; and (5) grant any
further relief as this Court deems just and proper. In the event that the Court denies
Defendants’ motion to dismiss Count 1l of the Complaint, Defendants respectfully
request that the Court require Plaintiff to timely submit the full and complete billing
statement upon which his TILA claims rely and grant Defendants a twenty-day
extension of time thereafter upon which to prepare, file, and serve a reasonably

informed responsive pleading to count two of the Complaint.

10
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Respectfully submitted,

SQUIRE, SANDERS & DEMPSEY, LLP
including Steel, Hector & Davis, LLP
1900 Phillips Point West

777 South Flagler Drive

West Palm Beach, FL 33401-6198
561.650.7200

561.655.1509 Facsimile

By: s/ David J. D'Agata
Traci H. Rollins
Florida Bar No. 769071
David J. D'Agata
Florida Bar No. 0663891

Attorneys for Defendants HSBC North America
Holdings Inc., and HSBC Bank Nevada, N.A.

CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE

| HEREBY CERTIFY that a true and correct copy of the above and foregoing was
served via U.S. Mail, this 17t day of October, 2005 to:
Neil J. Gillespie, pro se

8092 SW 115" Loop
Ocala, FL 34481

By: s/ David J. D'Agata
David J. D'Agata

WPB_1998 473743v2 11
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